

As Introduced

133rd General Assembly

Regular Session

2019-2020

H. B. No. 779

Representatives Clites, Miranda

Cosponsors: Representatives Boyd, Carfagna, Crossman, Galonski, Lepore-Hagan, Lightbody, Lipps, Liston, Sweeney, West

A BILL

To amend sections 3959.01, 3959.04, 3959.05, 1
3959.11, 3959.12, 3959.15, 3959.16, and 3959.20 2
and to enact section 3959.21 of the Revised Code 3
regarding pharmacy benefit managers. 4

BE IT ENACTED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE STATE OF OHIO:

Section 1. That sections 3959.01, 3959.04, 3959.05, 5
3959.11, 3959.12, 3959.15, 3959.16, and 3959.20 be amended and 6
section 3959.21 of the Revised Code be enacted to read as 7
follows: 8

Sec. 3959.01. ~~(A)~~ As used in this chapter: 9

(A) "Administration fees" means any amount charged a 10
covered person for services rendered. "Administration fees" 11
includes commissions earned or paid by any person relative to 12
services performed by an administrator. 13

(B) "Administrator" means any person who adjusts or 14
settles claims on, residents of this state in connection with 15
life, dental, health, prescription drugs, or disability 16
insurance or self-insurance programs. "Administrator" includes a 17

pharmacy benefit manager. "Administrator" does not include any 18
of the following: 19

(1) An insurance agent or solicitor licensed in this state 20
whose activities are limited exclusively to the sale of 21
insurance and who does not provide any administrative services; 22

(2) Any person who administers or operates the workers' 23
compensation program of a self-insuring employer under Chapter 24
4123. of the Revised Code; 25

(3) Any person who administers pension plans for the 26
benefit of the person's own members or employees or administers 27
pension plans for the benefit of the members or employees of any 28
other person; 29

(4) Any person that administers an insured plan or a self- 30
insured plan that provides life, dental, health, or disability 31
benefits exclusively for the person's own members or employees; 32

(5) Any health insuring corporation holding a certificate 33
of authority under Chapter 1751. of the Revised Code or an 34
insurance company that is authorized to write life or sickness 35
and accident insurance in this state. 36

(C) "Aggregate excess insurance" means that type of 37
coverage whereby the insurer agrees to reimburse the insured 38
employer or trust for all benefits or claims paid during an 39
agreement period on behalf of all covered persons under the plan 40
or trust which exceed a stated deductible amount and subject to 41
a stated maximum. 42

(D) "Contracted pharmacy" or "pharmacy" means a pharmacy 43
located in this state participating in either the network of a 44
pharmacy benefit manager or in a health care or pharmacy benefit 45
plan through a direct contract or through a contract with a 46

pharmacy services administration organization, group purchasing 47
organization, or another contracting agent. 48

(E) "Contributions" means any amount collected from a 49
covered person to fund the self-insured portion of any plan in 50
accordance with the plan's provisions, summary plan 51
descriptions, and contracts of insurance. 52

(F) "Drug product reimbursement" means the amount paid by 53
a pharmacy benefit manager to a contracted pharmacy for the cost 54
of the drug dispensed to a patient and does not include a 55
dispensing or professional fee. 56

(G) "Fiduciary" has the meaning set forth in section 57
1002(21)(A) of the "Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 58
1974," 88 Stat. 829, 29 U.S.C. 1001, as amended. 59

(H) "Fiscal year" means the twelve-month accounting period 60
commencing on the date the plan is established and ending twelve 61
months following that date, and each corresponding twelve-month 62
accounting period thereafter as provided for in the summary plan 63
description. 64

(I) "Insurer" means an entity authorized to do the 65
business of insurance in this state or, for the purposes of this 66
section, a health insuring corporation authorized to issue 67
health care plans in this state. 68

(J) "Managed care organization" means an entity that 69
provides medical management and cost containment services and 70
includes a medicaid managed care organization, as defined in 71
section 5167.01 of the Revised Code. 72

(K) "Maximum allowable cost" means a maximum drug product 73
reimbursement for an individual drug or for a group of 74
therapeutically and pharmaceutically equivalent multiple source 75

drugs that are listed in the United States food and drug 76
administration's approved drug products with therapeutic 77
equivalence evaluations, commonly referred to as the orange 78
book. 79

(L) "Maximum allowable cost list" means a list of the 80
drugs for which a pharmacy benefit manager imposes a maximum 81
allowable cost. 82

(M) "Multiple employer welfare arrangement" has the same 83
meaning as in section 1739.01 of the Revised Code. 84

(N) "Pharmacy benefit manager" means an entity that 85
contracts with pharmacies on behalf of an employer, a multiple 86
employer welfare arrangement, public employee benefit plan, 87
state agency, insurer, managed care organization, or other 88
third-party payer to provide pharmacy health benefit services or 89
administration. "Pharmacy benefit manager" includes the state 90
pharmacy benefit manager selected under section 5167.24 of the 91
Revised Code. 92

(O) "Plan" means any arrangement in written form for the 93
payment of life, dental, health, or disability benefits to 94
covered persons defined by the summary plan description and 95
includes a drug benefit plan administered by a pharmacy benefit 96
manager. 97

(P) "Plan sponsor" means the person who establishes the 98
plan. 99

(Q) "Self-insurance program" means a program whereby an 100
employer provides a plan of benefits for its employees without 101
involving an intermediate insurance carrier to assume risk or 102
pay claims. "Self-insurance program" includes but is not limited 103
to employer programs that pay claims up to a prearranged limit 104

beyond which they purchase insurance coverage to protect against 105
unpredictable or catastrophic losses. 106

(R) "Specific excess insurance" means that type of 107
coverage whereby the insurer agrees to reimburse the insured 108
employer or trust for all benefits or claims paid during an 109
agreement period on behalf of a covered person in excess of a 110
stated deductible amount and subject to a stated maximum. 111

(S) "Summary plan description" means the written document 112
adopted by the plan sponsor which outlines the plan of benefits, 113
conditions, limitations, exclusions, and other pertinent details 114
relative to the benefits provided to covered persons thereunder. 115

(T) "Third-party payer" has the same meaning as in section 116
3901.38 of the Revised Code. 117

Sec. 3959.04. (A) Administrators may be tested and shall 118
be licensed by the superintendent of insurance in accordance 119
with rules adopted by the superintendent. 120

(B) An administrator who has been licensed or certified by 121
the state of the administrator's domicile under a statute or 122
rule similar to ~~sections 3959.01 to 3959.16 of the Revised Code~~ 123
this chapter shall, upon application, be licensed without 124
testing, provided the state of domicile recognizes and grants 125
licenses to administrators of this state who have obtained 126
licenses under ~~such sections~~ this chapter. 127

Sec. 3959.05. No person shall solicit a plan or sponsor of 128
a plan to act as an administrator for, or provide administrative 129
services to, a plan or sponsor of a plan that is either 130
domiciled in this state or has its principal headquarters or 131
principal administrative office in this state unless the person 132
is duly licensed under ~~sections 3959.01 to 3959.16 of the~~ 133

Revised Code <u>this chapter</u> .	134
Sec. 3959.11. (A) No person may act as an administrator	135
without a written agreement between the administrator and the	136
plan sponsor. Such written agreement shall be retained as part	137
of the official records of the administrator for the duration of	138
the agreement and for five years thereafter. Each such agreement	139
shall contain, at a minimum, all of the following information:	140
(1) The term of the agreement;	141
(2) An explanation of the services to be performed by the	142
administrator;	143
(3) The method and rate of compensation to be paid by the	144
plan sponsor to the administrator for services rendered;	145
(4) Provisions for the renewal and termination of the	146
agreement.	147
(B) Every administrator shall maintain in its principal	148
office or branch office, if any, for the duration of the	149
agreement with the plan sponsor, customary books and records of	150
all transactions and information relative to covered persons or	151
beneficiaries.	152
(C) Each administrator duly licensed under sections	153
3959.01 to 3959.16 of the Revised Code <u>this chapter</u> shall at all	154
times maintain any required insurance coverage or bond as	155
provided for and mandated by the "Employee Retirement and Income	156
Security Act of 1974," 88 Stat. 829, 29 U.S.C. 1001, as amended.	157
Sec. 3959.12. (A) Any license issued under sections	158
3959.01 to 3959.16 of the Revised Code may be suspended for a	159
period not to exceed two years, revoked, or not renewed by the	160
superintendent of insurance after notice to the licensee and	161

hearing in accordance with Chapter 119. of the Revised Code. The	162
superintendent may suspend, revoke, or refuse to renew a license	163
if upon investigation and proof the superintendent finds that	164
the licensee has done any of the following:	165
(1) Knowingly violated any provision of sections 3959.01	166
to 3959.16 or 3959.20 of the Revised Code <u>this chapter</u> or any	167
rule promulgated by the superintendent;	168
(2) Knowingly made a material misstatement in the	169
application for the license;	170
(3) Obtained or attempted to obtain a license through	171
misrepresentation or fraud;	172
(4) Misappropriated or converted to the licensee's own use	173
or improperly withheld insurance company premiums or	174
contributions held in a fiduciary capacity, excluding, however,	175
any interest earnings received by the administrator as disclosed	176
in writing by the administrator to the plan sponsor;	177
(5) In the transaction of business under the license, used	178
fraudulent, coercive, or dishonest practices;	179
(6) Failed to appear without reasonable cause or excuse in	180
response to a subpoena, examination, warrant, or other order	181
lawfully issued by the superintendent;	182
(7) Is affiliated with or under the same general	183
management or interlocking directorate or ownership of another	184
administrator that transacts business in this state and is not	185
licensed under sections 3959.01 to 3959.16 of the Revised	186
Code <u>this chapter</u> ;	187
(8) Had a license suspended, revoked, or not renewed in	188
any other state, district, territory, or province on grounds	189

identical to those stated in sections 3959.01 to 3959.16 of the Revised Code <u>this chapter</u> ;	190 191
(9) Been convicted of a financially related felony;	192
(10) Failed to report a felony conviction as required under section 3959.13 of the Revised Code.	193 194
(B) Upon receipt of notice of the order of suspension in accordance with section 119.07 of the Revised Code, the licensee shall promptly deliver the license to the superintendent, unless the order of suspension is appealed under section 119.12 of the Revised Code.	195 196 197 198 199
(C) Any person whose license is revoked or whose application is denied pursuant to sections 3959.01 to 3959.16 of the Revised Code <u>this chapter</u> is ineligible to apply for an administrators license for two years.	200 201 202 203
(D) The superintendent may impose a monetary fine against a licensee if, upon investigation and after notice and opportunity for hearing in accordance with Chapter 119. of the Revised Code, the superintendent finds that the licensee has done either of the following:	204 205 206 207 208
(1) Committed fraud or engaged in any illegal or dishonest activity in connection with the administration of pharmacy benefit management services;	209 210 211
(2) Violated any provision of section 3959.111 of the Revised Code or any rule adopted by the superintendent pursuant to or to implement that section.	212 213 214
Sec. 3959.15. (A) Administrators shall maintain detailed books and records that reflect all administered transactions specifically in regard to premiums or contributions received and	215 216 217

deposited and claims and authorized expenses paid.	218
(B) The detailed preparation, journalizing, and posting of	219
such books and records shall be made in accordance with the	220
terms and conditions of the service agreement between the	221
administrator and the insurer or plan sponsor and in accordance	222
with the "Employee Retirement and Income Security Act of 1974,"	223
88 Stat. 829, 29 U.S.C. 1001, as amended.	224
(C) All books and records maintained by an administrator	225
on behalf of an insurer or plan sponsor for a calendar or fiscal	226
year shall be maintained for the period in which the	227
administrator is providing service for the insurer or plan	228
sponsor.	229
(D) Administrators shall maintain a cash receipts register	230
of all premiums or contributions received. The minimum detail	231
required in the register shall be date received and deposited.	232
(E) The description of a disbursement shall be in	233
sufficient detail to identify the source document substantiating	234
the purpose of the disbursement, and shall include all of the	235
following:	236
(1) The check number;	237
(2) The date of disbursement;	238
(3) The person to whom the disbursement was made;	239
(4) The amount disbursed. If the amount disbursed does not	240
agree with the amount billed or authorized, the administrator	241
shall prepare a written record as to the application for the	242
disbursement.	243
(F) If the disbursement is for the earned administrative	244
fee or commission, the disbursement shall be supported by a	245

written record reflecting the identifying deposit from which the	246
fee was matched.	247
(G) All journal entries for receipts and disbursements	248
shall be supported by evidential matter. The evidential matter	249
must be referenced in the journal entry so that it may be traced	250
for verification.	251
(H) The administrator shall prepare and maintain monthly	252
financial institution account reconciliations if such service is	253
requested by an insurer or plan sponsor as provided in the	254
service agreement by and between the administrator and the	255
insurer or plan sponsor.	256
(I) The administrator shall prepare a report to be filed	257
with the insurer or plan sponsor within ninety days of the end	258
of the fiscal year of the plan, which discloses at least all of	259
the following:	260
(1) The total premiums or contributions received from the	261
plan sponsor, covered persons, or beneficiaries;	262
(2) The total administration fees withdrawn by the	263
administrator pursuant to the written service agreement;	264
(3) The total claim payments made during the reporting	265
period.	266
(J) Return premiums or contributions shall be paid to the	267
insurer or plan sponsor or credited to the account of the	268
insurer or plan sponsor within thirty days after receipt by the	269
administrator. If the return premium or contribution is credited	270
to the insurer or plan sponsor, the credit must be shown and	271
applied to the next billing statement sent to the insurer or	272
plan sponsor.	273

(K) Upon written notification to an administrator by the 274
superintendent of insurance that the administrator has violated 275
any provision of ~~sections 3959.01 to 3959.16 of the Revised~~ 276
~~Code~~this chapter, the administrator shall have sixty days within 277
which to correct the violation specified in the notice, ~~in~~ 278
~~compliance with such sections.~~ 279

Sec. 3959.16. ~~Sections 3959.01 to 3959.16 of the Revised~~ 280
~~Code do~~ This chapter does not apply to an employer's self- 281
insurance plan to the extent that federal law supersedes, 282
preempts, prohibits, or otherwise precludes the application of 283
any provisions of ~~those sections~~ this chapter to such plan. 284

Sec. 3959.20. (A) As used in this section: 285

(1) "Cost-sharing" means the cost to an individual insured 286
under a health benefit plan according to any coverage limit, 287
copayment, coinsurance, deductible, or other out-of-pocket 288
expense requirements imposed by the plan. 289

(2) "Health benefit plan" and "health plan issuer" have 290
the same meanings as in section 3922.01 of the Revised Code. 291

(3) "Pharmacy audit" has the same meaning as in section 292
3901.81 of the Revised Code. 293

~~(4) "Pharmacy benefit manager" and "administrator" have~~ 294
~~the same meanings as in section 3959.01 of the Revised Code.~~ 295

(B) No health plan issuer, pharmacy benefit manager, or 296
any other administrator shall require cost-sharing in an amount, 297
or direct a pharmacy to collect cost-sharing in an amount, 298
greater than the lesser of either of the following from an 299
individual purchasing a prescription drug: 300

(1) The amount an individual would pay for the drug if the 301

drug were to be purchased without coverage under a health 302
benefit plan; 303

(2) The net reimbursement paid to the pharmacy for the 304
prescription drug by the health plan issuer, pharmacy benefit 305
manager, or administrator. 306

(C) (1) No health plan issuer, pharmacy benefit manager, or 307
administrator shall retroactively adjust a pharmacy claim for 308
reimbursement for a prescription drug unless the adjustment is 309
the result of either of the following: 310

(a) A pharmacy audit conducted in accordance with sections 311
3901.811 to 3901.814 of the Revised Code; 312

(b) A technical billing error. 313

(2) No health plan issuer, pharmacy benefit manager, or 314
administrator shall charge a fee related to a claim unless the 315
amount of the fee can be determined at the time of claim 316
adjudication. 317

(D) The department of insurance shall create a web form 318
that consumers can use to submit complaints relating to 319
violations of this section. 320

Sec. 3959.21. (A) As used in this section: 321

(1) "Cost sharing" means the cost to a covered person 322
under a health benefit plan according to any coverage limit, 323
copayment, coinsurance, deductible, or other out-of-pocket 324
expense requirements imposed by the plan. 325

(2) "Retail seller" has the same meaning as in section 326
4729.01 of the Revised Code. 327

(B) A pharmacy benefit manager shall refill a prescription 328

for a drug that was shipped but not delivered to a covered 329
person. The covered person shall be responsible for providing to 330
the pharmacy benefit manager proof of non-delivery. 331

(C) A pharmacy benefit manager shall not do either of the 332
following: 333

(1) Require a covered person to obtain a prescription drug 334
through United States mail or other delivery service; 335

(2) Require cost sharing for a prescription drug obtained 336
at a retail seller in an amount greater than the amount the 337
covered person would pay for the drug if the drug were shipped 338
and delivered to the covered person through United States mail 339
or other delivery service. 340

(D) The superintendent of insurance shall adopt rules as 341
necessary to implement the requirements of this section. Such 342
rules shall include the acceptable forms of proof of non- 343
delivery under division (B) of this section. In adopting rules 344
pursuant to this division, the superintendent shall not be 345
subject to division (F) of section 121.95 of the Revised Code. 346

Section 2. That existing sections 3959.01, 3959.04, 347
3959.05, 3959.11, 3959.12, 3959.15, 3959.16, and 3959.20 of the 348
Revised Code are hereby repealed. 349